### **APPEAL NO. 22-CV-760**



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

ALEXA MOORE, ET AL.

Plaintiffs, Appellants

v.

## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, ET AL.

**Defendants**, Appellees

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia, Civil Division Case No. 2021 CA 003834 B (The Honorable Heidi M. Pasichow, Judge)

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT ALEXA MOORE**

\*Arnold J. Abraham, Esq. (DC Bar No. 90003838) CyberLaw, LLC, 220 N. Liberty Street, Baltimore, MD 21201 Phone: 443-906-3495

Eric J. Menhart, Esq. (DC Bar No. 975896) Lexero Law, 512 C St NE, Washington, DC 20002 Phone: 855-453-9376

\* Counsel expected to argue.

Attorneys for Appellants

# **JURISDICTION**

Pursuant to Rule 28(a)(5) of the Rules of the D.C. Court of Appeals, counsel of record for the Appellant hereby assert that "the appeal is from a final order or judgment that disposes of all parties' claims."

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether the Trial Court Erred as a Matter of Law in Not Applying the Standard of Review for Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) which Required Interpretation of Facts in the Light Most Favorable to Plaintiff.
- II. Whether the Trial Court Erred as a Matter of Law When it Ruled the Claims Against the District of Columbia Were Barred Under the Sovereign Immunity Doctrine.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 21, 2021, the civil action was filed in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia by Plaintiff/Appellant Alexa Moore on behalf of herself and others similarly situated against *inter alia* the District of Columbia ("the District") and its vendor contractors ("Contractor Defendants") arising from a data breach in the computer system of the District causing the personal information of thousands of police officers and other employees of the District to be purloined. (App.-1). Under the Amended Complaint ("Am. Compl."), Ms. Moore asserted claims against the District for Negligence (Count I) and Breach of Confidentiality (Count II). (App.-2).

In response to the Amended Complaint, the District filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, arguing *inter alia*, that the claims of Ms. Moore and the putative class were barred by the doctrine of sovereign immunity. (App.-3). On March 2, 2022, the lower court granted the District's Motion to Dismiss ("Dismissal Order"). (App.-4). The Court determined that the claims against the District were barred by sovereign immunity. (App.-4; p. 8). Defendants Metropolitan Police Department and the Office of the Chief Technology Officer were dismissed because they were deemed not *sui juris* and therefore could not be sued in their own names. *Id*.

On June 17, 2022, the trial Court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Rehearing and/or Reconsideration of its dismissal of the District ("Order Denying Rehearing"). (App.- 6). In its ruling the Court restated its finding as follows:

The doctrine of sovereign immunity acts as a bar to suing the District of Columbia for its discretionary functions. Nealon v. District of Columbia, 669 A.2d 685, 690 (D.C. 1995). Sovereign immunity applies to acts that are discretionary rather than ministerial, those that involve the formulation of policy and require personal deliberation, decision, and judgment. Id. In contrast, ministerial acts require little or no judgment and generally constitute mere obedience to orders of performance of a duty in which the municipal employee has little or no choice. Id. The Court found that Plaintiff's claims implicate the District's discretion concerning which protective measures to employ to protect data—precisely the type of discretion that is protected under the doctrine of sovereign immunity.

(Order Denying Rehearing- p. 5-6; App- 6: p. 5-6)

With ten short lines of text, the trial court's ruling explained that the claims were barred as to the District under the sovereign immunity doctrine. In doing so, the Superior Court ignored the content of the complaint and instead made numerous assumptions in favor of the Defendants. With this ruling, the Superior Court cast a wide blanket of immunity over all the District's cybersecurity and privacy functions without evaluating whether actual components of the allegations would qualify as ministerial vice discretionary in nature. Such an approach does not comport with the law in general or specific precedent in this area.<sup>1</sup>

The lower Court did not make any comment or ruling on the question of whether Plaintiff's Amended Complaint complied with Rule 8(a). The Court did not make any comments or rule on the question of whether the District had a duty to protect Plaintiff's personal information. The Court did not rule on whether the breach of confidentiality claim was appropriately pled based on an existing confidential relationship. While the Court provided a citation on the question of a "special relationship" it offered no comments and made no ruling on whether Plaintiff's claims were barred by the so-called "Public Duty Doctrine."

Each of the Contractor Defendants were subsequently dismissed without prejudice by consent of the parties. The matter was considered finally adjudicated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, Walen v. United States (D. D.C. 2019) discussing over a century of case law dealing with evaluating discrete sub-parts of common municipal functions to determine whether or not they were ministerial or discretionary functions, including the "obligation to keep streets in a safe condition after being put on notice of a defect" Urow v. District of Columbia, 316 F.2d 351 (D.C. Cir.) (per curiam), cert denied, 375 U.S. 826 (1963), at 352; and "decisions about the planning and design of its sewer system were discretionary but "for any negligence in . . . keeping [the sewer] in repair, . . . the municipality . . . may be sued." Johnston v. District of Columbia, 118 U.S. 19 (1886),

on September 9, 2022. (App.- 7). This timely appeal addresses the dismissal of the claims against the District.

#### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

The instant action involves claims arising from a data breach in the computer system supporting the Metropolitan Police Department within the District. The breach involved the theft and exposure of highly classified personal information of thousands of police officers and other employees of the District.

The Amended Complaint made numerous allegations about the District's acts, or lack thereof, within its cyber security and privacy protection posture that harmed the Plaintiff. These included some functions that could be described as discretionary and some that were clearly ministerial functions.

The Amended Complaint made numerous allegations characterizing the District's duty to perform cyber security and privacy functions. (Am. Compl-¶¶183-202). Some of these duties were derived from statutory requirements and others based on industry standards. In both aspects, the range of its ability to exercise discretionary powers would therefore have been reasonably constrained by these existing guidelines.

Appellant does not believe it is necessary to recount the allegations of the Amended Complaint with respect to the many factual allegations of ministerial misfeasance. Suffice to say, the gist of the lawsuit is germane to all other lawsuits asserting data breach liability: that the party entrusted with sensitive information failed to safeguard the data to the injury of others.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When an appeal entails review of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12 (b)(6), the complaint is to be construed "in the light most favorable to appellant, accepting its allegations as true." *Fraser v. Gottfried*, 636 A.2d 430 (D.C. 1994) (citations omitted). Moreover, because a motion to dismiss a complaint under Rule 12 (b)(6) presents questions of law, the standard of review for dismissal for failure to state a claim is *de novo. Id.* Because District of Columbia rules "reject the approach that pleading is a game of skill in which one misstep . . . may be decisive to the outcome' and 'manifest a preference for resolution of disputes on the merits, not on technicalities of pleading,' pleadings are to be construed 'as to do substantial justice." *Clampitt v. Am. Univ.*, 957 A.2d 23, 29 (D.C. 2008) (*quoting Carter-Obayuwana v. Howard Univ.*, 764 A.2d 779, 787 (D.C. 2001)).

Plaintiff's Complaint meets the necessary standards to preclude dismissal of her claims. Accordingly, this Court of Appeals must reverse the Superior Court's grant of Appellees' Motions to Dismiss unless the Appellant has failed to adequately plead facts that would disclose a legally sufficient cause of action, drawing all inferences from such facts in favor of Appellant. The essential element of the Superior Court's ruling was that the allegations involved a discretionary function. Whether a function is discretionary or ministerial is a question going to the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court. *District of Columbia v. North Wash. Neighbors, Inc.,* 367 A.2d 143, 148 n. 7 (App. D.C. 1976). It is a determination to be made by the trial judge, not the jury. *Aguehounde v. District of Columbia,* 666 A.2d 443, 447 (D.C. 1995). Therefore, the standard for review is a *de novo* review of the trial court's determination of whether or not the action was discretionary. *See e.g., id.; Daigle v. Shell Oil Co.,* 972 F.2d 1527, 1537-1539 (10th Cir. 1992).

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN NOT APPLYING THE STANDARD OF REVIEW UNDER RULE 12(B)(6) WHICH REQUIRED INTERPRETATION OF FACTS IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO PLAINTIFF.

#### A. <u>The Trial Court Did Not Take All of the Factual Allegations</u> <u>in the Complaint as True</u>

Plaintiffs are generally provided a generous standard to avoid dismissal of pleadings. But in this case, the Superior Court overlooked the well-pled allegations supporting a theory of liability based on ministerial acts outside the scope of sovereign immunity.

In analyzing a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a court "must take all of the factual allegations in the complaint as true." *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662,

678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007)). *Id.* It also must "constru[e] the complaint liberally in the plaintiff's favor with the benefit of all reasonable inferences derived from the facts alleged." *Stewart v. Nat'l Educ. Ass'n*, 471 F.3d 169, 173 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Further, a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim should be granted only if "it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." *Id.* (*citing McBryde v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 404 A.2d 200, 202 (D.C. 1979)).

In contrast to this requirement, the Court not only failed to find that "no set of facts" could support the claim, but also went even further by rejecting the specific facts as alleged and instead chose to adopt a different characterization of events that was propounded by the Defendant in support of their position.

The Amended Complaint contained more than seventy (70) detailed allegations in the "Negligence" portion alone that focused on distinct aspects of the cybersecurity and privacy functions for which the District was responsible. (Am. Compl- ¶¶183-202; App. 2). In order for the Court's ruling to hold, each of these allegations must have been accepted as true. However, the Court ignored the contents of the pleadings, which not only alleged failures in the District's choices regarding the implementation, but also in the execution of these functions. The Amended Complaint, which was necessarily broad given the absence of discovery, included the contention that the District's failure was due to errors in both design and implementation. Because many of these allegations included ministerial tasks, it would not have been possible for the Court to have accepted them as pled. Therefore, the trial court decision must be reversed.

#### B. <u>The Trial Court Erred When it Evaluated "Cyber Security" as a Single</u> <u>Overarching Discretionary Function Instead of Each of the Discrete</u> <u>Ministerial Sub-Tasks Described in the Complaint.</u>

The Superior Court painted with too broad a brush in reaching its conclusion. If the complaint had alleged a single broad claim of "inadequacy of the District's cybersecurity posture" then perhaps the trial court's ruling could be explained. However, given the numerous specific tasks delineated in the complaint, it was an error to simply make a single evaluation of the overarching function of cybersecurity.

There is often a very different outcome when analyzing discrete subcomponents rather than overarching categories. Consider the contrast between "without question the operation of a police force is a governmental function" *Wade v. District of Columbia*, 310 A.2d 857, 860 (D.C. 1973) and "it settled that for immunity purposes the act of making an arrest is ministerial." *Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Fed. Bur. of Narc.*, 456 F.2d 1339 (2d Cir. 1972); *Carter v. Carlson, supra*; *Sherbutte v. Marine City*, 374 Mich. 48, 130 N.W. 2d 920 (1964)." *Wade v. District of Columbia*, 310 A.2d 857, 860 (D.C. 1973).

The evaluation as to whether a matter in dispute is discretionary or ministerial requires the proper level of detail. For example, in a case dealing with an accident at an intersection, the court did not make a ruling on "traffic safety" but instead evaluated the specific task which was described in the complaint - setting the timing of the signal intervals. *Aguehounde v. District of Columbia*, 666 A.2d 443, 448 (D.C. 1995).

To emphasize this requirement, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals made it clear that the proper evaluation could not be just the broad function of "child protective services" but that the nature of the specific alleged actions needed to be evaluated. *J.C. v. District of Columbia*, 199 A.3d 192 (D.C. 2018).

Finally, this jurisdiction's most recent decision dealing with the question of "discretionary" versus "ministerial" discusses this concept extensively when evaluating the placement of a single warning cone rather than the broad categories of public transportation safety and the general principle of failure to warn. *Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Nash-Flegler*, 272 A.3d 1171 (D.C. 2022).

The need for a complete and thorough evaluation of what may be discretionary versus ministerial is even more clear in the present case. While *Aguehounde*, *J.C.*, and *Nash-Flegler* each involved discrete incidents affecting individuals, this case includes a wide variety of alleged failures over an extended period of time. Such

errors occurred repeatedly and involved numerous shortfalls in dozens of specific ministerial subtasks that ended up impacting thousands of people.

The Amended Complaint made numerous allegations about the District's acts, or lack thereof, that must qualify as ministerial in nature in the absence of clear evidence they were discretionary (policy) decisions. But despite the existence of these allegations, the lower Court ruled that all aspects (and alleged failures) of the District's cyber security function were discretionary (as a matter of law) without any evaluation of what each of those steps were and what specific failures were alleged to have occurred. The function to develop, maintain, and execute cybersecurity and privacy protocols for the entire police department was clearly a significant undertaking for the District. There is no indication from its ruling that the Court made any inquiry into the nature of these specific allegations of negligence. Instead, it cast a wide blanket of immunity over all cybersecurity and privacy functions, in a manner akin to saying the broad functions of policing, public sanitation, or public transportation are fully protected without the need to refine these subjects further to determine what specific sub activity is actually the matter under contention. This is contrary to what the law requires. See Walen v. United States (D.D.C. 2019) (discussing over a century of case law dealing with evaluating discrete sub-parts of common municipal functions to determine whether or not they were ministerial or discretionary functions, including the "obligation to keep streets in a safe condition

after being put on notice of a defect"); Urow v. District of Columbia, 316 F.2d 351 (D.C. Cir.) (per curiam), cert denied, 375 U.S. 826 (1963), at 352; (decisions about the planning and design of its sewer system were discretionary but "for any negligence in . . . keeping [the sewer] in repair, . . . the municipality . . . may be sued."); see also Johnston v. District of Columbia, 118 U.S. 19 (1886).

The NIST Cybersecurity Framework<sup>2</sup> breaks down cybersecurity into six different functions of Identify, Protect, Detect, Respond, and Recover. The NIST Cybersecurity Framework further provides over one hundred subcategories of tasks that all should be individually considered as part of an organizations' cybersecurity posture. These NIST functions were described extensively through dozens of pages of allegations in the Complaint. It is clear the lower Court did not evaluate each of these functions and tasks when it concluded that the entire universe of cybersecurity could only be discretionary as a matter of law.

# C. <u>The Proper Method of Evaluation for Whether a Task is Discretionary</u> <u>Versus Ministerial Requires Evaluation of the Facts of the Case Based</u> <u>on the Stage of the Proceedings.</u>

In Aguehounde v. District of Columbia, the Court found that within the overarching category of traffic safety, the specific task of setting the length of the clearance interval in crosswalks involved policy considerations and was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/CSWP/NIST.CSWP.04162018.pdf

discretionary. *Aguehounde*, 666 A.2d at 445. However, it is important to recognize that before the trial court came to its final decision in that matter, two Superior Court judges had ruled at earlier stages of the litigation that the exact function under consideration was ministerial, rather than discretionary, in nature. *Id.* at 461. Those earlier rulings were made in response to motions for summary judgment and for directed verdict. But in the present case, the standard was at the stage where the bar would be at the absolute highest for the defendant and lowest for the plaintiff. To be sure, if after discovery, there were no facts that showed ministerial misconduct, the District would be entitled to summary disposition as in *Aguehounde*.

Further, in *Aguehounde* the Court recognized that when determining whether the act is discretionary, the trial court is not confined to considering only that evidence which was also heard by the jury; instead, the court may consider all evidence coming to its attention bearing on that issue. *Id.* at 447; *see also, Matthews v. Automated Bus. Sys. Serv.*, 558 A.2d 1175, 1179-80 (D.C. 1989) ("the court has broad discretion in determining how to proceed in finding such [jurisdictional] facts, including basing its decision on affidavits"). In stark contrast, in the instant case, the lower Court not only did not have the opportunity to consider the evidence heard by the jury (as there was none), it also did not have the benefit of reviewing any evidence <u>at all</u> since the matter had never been permitted to leave the initial pleading stage. The required depth of analysis for the determination in this case was clearly lacking. In *Aguehounde*, when the Court found the timing of signal intervals involves balancing various economic, political, and social considerations it did so by recognizing a number of complex factors were involved:

considerations of safety not only for pedestrians but for travelers, and it involves a balancing of safety needs against the need to assure adequate traffic flow, which itself involves considerations of safety as well as commerce and convenience. Balancing these factors also requires the ascertainment of facts, such as numbers of vehicles and pedestrians, and ways in which drivers and pedestrians behave in the aggregate, which are peculiarly subject to study and expertise. Subjecting the decisions of traffic engineers to litigation and to second-guessing by jurors would deter effective government.

*Aguehounde*, 666 A.2d at 448.

While some aspects of cybersecurity may rise to the level of "balancing various economic, political and social considerations," most functions are not. The failure to train and supervise employees to avoid opening a zip file containing a virus, or to avoid clicking a hyperlink to malware, involves no such consideration. There is "no second guessing" as every person and organization must be vigilant to guard against outside cyberattacks.<sup>3</sup>

The trial court must determine whether the act is a discretionary or ministerial function under the circumstances presented. *McKethean v. Wmata*, 588 A.2d 708 at

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