No. 22-CV-760



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 10/31/2023 03:57 PM Filed 10/31/2023 03:57 PM

ALEXA MOORE, APPELLANT.

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, *et al.*, APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA APPELLEES

RICHARD B. RAILE (202) 861-1711 rraile@bakerlaw.com

ELIZABETH A. SCULLY (202) 861-1698 escully@bakerlaw.com

BakerHostetler Washington Square 1050 Connecticut Ave., NW Suite 1110 Washington, D.C. 20036-5403 BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

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

Moore's many attempts to recast this case as something other than a challenge to system design and policy are unpersuasive. Moore cites the expansive sweep of her Amended Complaint as a virtue, but this Court's precedent deems it an immunity vice. Moreover, Moore cites no policy, statute, or regulations cabining the District's discretion in designing and maintaing its information technology security systems. Moore errs in faulting the Superior Court for construing the Amended Complaint as a challenge to the District's discretion, when it was Moore who crafted this case as a sprawling challenge to the District's fundamental policy decisions. Moore is also wrong to contend that the Superior Court's immunity conclusion is premature. Moore was obligated to state plausible facts demonstrating that some ministerial failure on the District's part caused her injury, but she did not. Further proceedings will not transform this case into anything other than the programmatic challenge to District policymaking that it clearly is.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Should Dismiss This Appeal For Lack Of Jurisdiction, Having Been Taken From A Non-Final Order.

This Court should dismiss this appeal for lack of jurisdiction. A panel of the Court has already recognized that the September Order is non-final and non-appealable, the Superior Court has issued no subsequent final order, and Moore cannot cure her finality deficiency through the tactic of voluntarily dismissing defendants without prejudice.

"[T]his [C]ourt has jurisdiction only over appeals from 'all *final* orders and judgments of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia." *Anderson v. United States*, 754 A.2d 920, 922 (D.C. 2000) (quoting D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1)). Section 11-721 "bars an appeal unless the order appealed from disposes of all issues in the case; it must be final as to all the parties, the whole subject matter, and all of the causes of action involved." *L.A.W. v. M.E.*, 606 A.2d 160, 161 (D.C. 1992); *see also Howard Univ. v. Pobbi-Asamani*, 488 A.2d 1350, 1353 (D.C. 1985). "The lack of finality is a bar to appellate jurisdiction." *Rolinski v. Lewis*, 828 A.2d 739, 745 (D.C. 2003) (en banc) (internal quotation marks omitted).

This Court has construed Moore's appeal as taken from the Superior Court's September Order, and Moore seems to agree. SA 100; Br. 13-14. The September Order, however, did nothing more than administratively close the case and is therefore non-final. SA 100. As this Court determined in its dismissal order, the September Order was non-final and non-appealable because it "did not dispose of the whole case on the merits." SA 100. That determination is correct. An administrative closing order "does not dispense with the technical requirements of finality." Penn W. Assocs., Inc. v. Cohen, 371 F.3d 118, 128 (3d Cir. 2004). Here, by the time the September Order was issued, Moore had voluntarily dismissed Blackwood, MVS, and Avid, but her claims against the Pittman Group and vTech remained pending. Moore neither sought an entry of default nor voluntarily dismissed them as parties. The Superior Court in its September Order did not even purport to dispose of the claims against the two remaining defendants and simply "remov[ed] [the] case[] from [its] active files without making any final adjudication." Lehman v. Revolution Portfolio L.L.C., 166 F.3d 389, 392 (1st Cir.1999); see United States v. 27.09 Acres of Land, 1 F.3d 107, 111 (2d Cir. 1993).⁶

⁶ Moore initially sought to appeal from the March and June 2022 orders. *See* SA 97. However, as discussed, the Court construed Moore's October 2022 appeal as taken from the September Order, especially given that Moore had not filed any additional notice of appeal. In any event, the March and June orders were not final because they did not reach three of four causes of action, including two that had only

After this Court's dismissal order, Moore filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of the remaining two IT Contractors—again *without prejudice*—and she contends that this non-prejudicial dismissal, in combination with the September Order, and without any further Superior Court order, created the necessary finality for this appeal. *See* Br. 13-14. Moore's voluntary dismissal, however, is an "inventive litigation ploy[]" that does not create finality. *Microsoft Corp. v. Baker*, 137 S. Ct. 1702, 1714 (2017). In fact, this case is in all material respects like the D.C. Circuit's decision in *Blue v. District of Columbia Public Schools*, 764 F.3d 11 (D.C. Cir. 2014), where a plaintiff voluntarily dismissed her claims against a teacher without prejudice in order to pursue an appeal of claims against the District. *Id.* at 14-15. The D.C. Circuit dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, holding that the order dismissing the District was not final. *Id.* at 19.

As the D.C. Circuit explained, there is a "broad consensus" among the federal circuits that dismissals without prejudice of some claims or some parties do not "finalize trial court proceedings for appellate review." *Id.* at 17 (collecting cases).⁷

been stated against the IT Contractors in the first instance. App. 102-05, 123-32, 140-48. In addition, any appeal from these orders taken in October would have been untimely. *See* D.C. App. R. 4(a)(1).

⁷ "The Superior Court shall conduct its business according to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure . . . unless it prescribes or adopts rules which modify those Rules." D.C. Code § 11-946. Thus, "when one of the Superior Court's 'procedural rules is nearly identical to or the functional equivalent of a federal procedural rule, [this

The courts agree that "a party cannot use voluntary dismissal without prejudice as an end-run around the final judgment rule to convert an otherwise non-final-and thus non-appealable-ruling into a final decision." 84 Lumber Co. v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 914 F.3d 329, 332-33 (5th Cir. 2019); see also Rowland v. S. Health Partners, Inc., 4 F.4th 422, 424 (6th Cir. 2021) ("[T]his attempt to manufacture finality by voluntarily dismissing certain claims without prejudice in order to pursue what would otherwise be an interlocutory appeal is . . . impermissible."); ITOFCA, Inc. v. MegaTrans Logistics, Inc., 235 F.3d 360, 363-64 (7th Cir. 2000) ("[I]t would be disingenuous to suggest that by dismissing the claims without prejudice, the district court did dispose of all those issues."); Collins v. Li, 158 Md. App. 252, 274 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2004) ("The circuit court's grant of appellants' dismissal without prejudice is not a final appealable order, for appellants may choose to resurrect their dismissed claims.").

The result should be the same here. Moore dismissed her claims "without prejudice." SA 106; Br. 13. She remains free to bring another suit against the IT

Court] look[s] to cases interpreting the federal rule for guidance on how to interpret our own." *Varnum Props., LLC v. D.C. Dep't of Consumer & Regul. Affs.*, 204 A.3d 117, 121 (D.C. 2019) (quoting *Estate of Patterson v. Sharek*, 924 A.2d 1005, 1009-10 (D.C. 2007)). The statute and rules here are like their federal counterparts, so federal decisions are probative. *See United States v. Facon*, 288 A.3d 317, 333 (D.C. 2023) (recognizing that D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1) "is based on 28 U.S.C. § 1291"); *Talley v. Varma*, 689 A.2d 547, 557 (D.C. 1997) (looking to "federal courts for guidance" when interpreting Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54 because federal decisions interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 54 "are persuasive").

Contractors in the future based on the same nucleus of facts common to this action or even to amend her pleadings to reinstate those claims in this case, regardless of the outcome of this appeal. Allowing this appeal to proceed would permit "the manipulative plaintiff [to] hav[e] his cake (the ability to refile the claims voluntarily dismissed) and eat[] it too (getting an early appellate bite at reversing the claims dismissed involuntarily)." *Marshall v. Kan. City S. Ry. Co.*, 378 F.3d 495, 500 (5th Cir. 2004). And by consequence, this Court "may face repeated appeals that require an inefficient revisit to the same basic fact setting," not only in this case but also in others. 15A Charles A. Wright et al., *Federal Practice & Procedure* § 3914.8.1 (3d ed. 2023).

The Supreme Court in the class action context has rejected similar efforts to manufacture a final decision by plaintiffs who voluntary dismissed their individual claims—there of with prejudice—to pursue appeal an interlocutory class-certification decision. *Microsoft*, 137 S. Ct. at 1713-14. This case is even clearer than *Microsoft* because Ms. Moore dismissed her claims without prejudice. Like in Microsoft, Moore's "voluntary-dismissal SA 64, 83, 92, 102-03. tactic ... invites protracted litigation and piecemeal appeals," leaves "the decision whether an immediate appeal will lie ... exclusively with the plaintiff," and undermines the "careful calibration" of existing rules permitting interlocutory appeals in discrete circumstances. 137 S. Ct. at 1713-15. Indeed, "[t]he purpose of

21

Rule 54(b) is to prevent parties from taking over the 'dispatcher' function that the Rule vests in the trial judge to control the circumstances and timing of the entry of final judgment." *Blue*, 764 F.3d at 18; *see Luvata Grenada, L.L.C. v. Danfoss Industries S.A. DE C.V.*, 813 F.3d 238, 240 (5th Cir. 2016). That is what Moore is attempting here. To reach the merits of this appeal would ratify that tactic, which stands uniformly rejected by federal appellate tribunals.

Instead, to achieve finality in the Superior Court, Moore was required either to: (1) dismiss all claims against the IT Contractors *with prejudice*; (2) obtain a final determination on the merits of her claims against the IT Contractors through default judgments or litigation; or (3) seek a Rule 54(b) certification from the Superior Court and D.C. App. R. 5 approval from this Court to appeal the interlocutory orders dismissing her claims against the District. *See Blue*, 764 F.3d at 17; D.C. Code § 11-721(d). She declined to undertake any of those routes. Thus, this appeal remains one taken from the same non-final September Order, notwithstanding Moore's subsequent non-prejudicial dismissal of the remaining two IT Contractors, and this Court lacks jurisdiction.

II. Alternatively, Sovereign Immunity Bars Moore's Claims Against The District.

On the merits, the Superior Court correctly concluded that sovereign immunity bars Moore's claims against the District. "In this jurisdiction, the doctrine of sovereign immunity acts as a bar to bringing suit against the District of Columbia for its discretionary functions." *Nealon v. District of Columbia*, 669 A.2d 685, 690 (D.C. 1995). On the other hand, "[i]f the act is committed in the exercise of a ministerial function, the District is not immune." *Id.* Because "[t]his doctrine acts as a jurisdictional bar to bringing suit," *id.*, "[w]hether a function is discretionary or ministerial is a question going to the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court," *Aguehounde v. District of Columbia*, 666 A.2d 443, 447 (D.C. 1995).

"Discretionary acts are generally defined as those acts involving the formulation of policy while ministerial acts are defined as those relating to the execution of policy." Id. However, "[d]iscretionary activity is not confined to the policy or planning level, and can include day-to-day operational activities, provided the decisions at issue involved an exercise of political, social, or economic judgment." Nash-Flegler, 272 A.3d at 1181 (internal quotation marks omitted). "Discretionary decisions typically affect large numbers of people and 'call for a delicate balancing of competing considerations." District of Columbia v. Pace, 498 A.2d 226, 229 (D.C. 1985) (quoting Owen v. Independence, 445 U.S. 622, 648 (1980)). Such decisions implicate "a concern for separation of powers," "because of the necessity and desirability of 'freeing policy decisions from jury speculation." Id. (quoting Chandler v. District of Columbia, 404 A.2d 964, 966 (D.C. 1979)); see also Nash-Flegler, 272 A.3d at 1181 ("Immunity extends to those discretionary acts to 'prevent judicial "second-guessing" of legislative and administrative decisions

grounded in social, economic, and political policy through the medium of an action in tort." (citation omitted)).

A. The acts and omissions complained of here are discretionary, not ministerial.

Applied to this case, sovereign immunity compels affirmance of the Superior Court's dismissal order. The Amended Complaint challenges the District's entire approach to information-technology security, comprising a vast confluence of policymaking decisions. In fact, this case falls squarely within this Court's line of holdings that the "overall . . . safety design" of a complex system, or even "part" of it, is "a discretionary policy decision" within the District's immunity. McKethean v. WMATA, 588 A.2d 708, 715 (D.C. 1991). In McKethean, this Court deemed discretionary "the decision to relocate a bus stop." Id. In Nealon, it concluded the same of the "decision to reduce the water pressure in the fire hydrants and to increase its availability only for working fires." 669 A.2d at 691. And in *Chandler*, the Court found the District's choices in locating and closing fire stations immune from a jury's review. 404 A.2d at 965-66; see also Dant v. District of Columbia, 829 F.2d 69, 74-75 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (holding that the "complex design" of system-wide fare collection is "approved by WMATA in the exercise of its policy discretion.").

This case presents an even more expansive challenge to discretionary policy than those previously rejected. Moore directs the Court to paragraphs 183-202 of her Amended Complaint, App. 79-81, to find the factual allegations supporting her claims, Br. 14, 17. There, at its core, the Amended Complaint places at issue everything remotely connected to MPD's information technology system at the programmatic level, which in turn implicates many related spheres of District governance. The Court will be hard pressed to find a clearer challenge to discretionary policymaking than this.

Beyond that, Moore's complaint seeks to challenge the District's decisions about what to communicate, to whom, and when. App. 79-81. But these choices, too, are discretionary. Finally, Moore's remaining high-level and conclusory allegations fail to rescue her complaint. App. 79-81.

- 1. The Amended Complaint's allegations concerning all information technology in the District challenge policymaking.
 - a. Cybersecurity.

The Amended Complaint broadly challenges the District's entire approach to information security. It alleges that "Defendants had numerous opportunities in advance of the breach to reasonably implement adequate cyber security measures . . . , but failed to do so." App. 93. And it identifies at least 27 different measures that allegedly could have been employed, App. 82-86, which, altogether, implicate "over one hundred subcategories of tasks," Br. 21. Moreover, the Amended Complaint identifies a plethora of ways to judge information-security best practices, including those measures "recommended by the FBI," App. 82, those "recommended by the United States Cybersecurity & Infrastructure Security

Agency," App. 84, and those "recommended by the Microsoft Threat Protection Intelligence Team," App. 84.

Moore's brief adds two more: "[t]he NIST Cybersecurity Framework" and recommendations of the Federal Trade Commission. Br. 21, 23 n.3. The Amended Complaint does not mention these examples. Thus, Moore may not rely on them now. *Hollins v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'n*, 760 A.2d 563, 572 (D.C. 2000) ("Ordinarily, arguments not made in the trial court are deemed waived on appeal."); *Hulse v. Kirk*, 329 N.E.2d 286, 292 (III. App. 1st Dist.1975) ("Just as a new theory or issue cannot be asserted for the first time on appeal, plaintiff cannot argue or rely upon facts which are totally absent from his complaint." (internal citation omitted)). In any event, their belated appearance only underscores how many different ways there are of evaluating whether or not a "party entrusted with sensitive information failed to safeguard the data to the injury of others." Br. 15.

Moore's menu of information technology possibilities proves that her complaint concerns "personal deliberation, decision and judgment." *Nealon*, 669 A.2d at 690 (citation omitted). It is no answer that benchmarks might be inferred from "industry standards," *see* Br. 14, when there are so many different standards and sources of standards. A reasonable information technology framework might follow one set of guidelines or another or mix and match recommendations. *See Aguehounde*, 666 A.2d at 448. And it might allocate resources in different ways

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